IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. SC01-1735

LOWER CASE NO.: 3D00-1469

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

SERGIO VALDES, ET AL.,

Respondent(s).

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Michael J. Neimand Bureau Chief

PAULETTE R. TAYLOR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0992348 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441(305) 377-5655 (facsimile)

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Department of Environmental Protection, petitions for discretionary review of a decision of the Third District Court of Appeal which expressly declared valid a state statute. Petitioner was the Appellant in the district court and the Movant in the trial court. Respondent, CARLOS VALDES, is the registered owner of the property at issue and was the Appellee in the district court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court. The symbol "R" refers to the record on appeal. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about August 3, 1998, The Department of Environmental Protection (hereinafter "DEP") filed a Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of a Nuisance in the County Court, Monroe County. (R. 11-23). The motion alleged the following:

- 1. This Court has jurisdiction to enter a final order of forfeiture pursuant to section 370.061, Florida Statutes (1997).
- 2. The property which is the subject of this motion is described as:
 1980 43' TORRES, Commercial Fishing Vessel,
 "La Esperanza", , United States Coast Guard Documentation Number 929260, bearing Hull Identification Number TBP000350280, and all associated equipment. (Hereinafter referred to as the "VESSEL")
- 3. On September 21, 1997, Officer David Wigley of the Florida Marine Patrol arrested the defendant, SERGIO VALDES, on board the VESSEL, for, *inter alia*, being in possession 79 undersized crawfish tails and 137 out of season stone crab claws, in violation of sections 370.021 and 370.13(2), Fla. Stat. The particular circumstances of the arrest are set forth in the accompanying affidavit of Officer David Wigley. (Exh. A).
- 4. On June 15, 1998, SERGIO VALDES, entered a written plea of guilty to, *inter alia*, possession of 137 out of season stone crab claws, and possession of 79 under sized crawfish tails. (Exh. B).
- 5. On June 15, 1998, this Court accepted SERGIO VALDES'S guilty plea, entered adjudication in accordance with the plea, and imposed sentence of, *inter alia*, six (6) months in Monroe County Jail. (Exh. C).
- 6. Section 370.061, Florida Statutes (1997), provides in part:

In all cases of arrest and conviction for an illegal taking, or attempted taking, sale, possession, or transportation of saltwater fish or other saltwater products, such saltwater products and seines, nets, boats, motors, other fishing devices or equipment, ..., used in connection with such illegal taking or attempted taking are hereby declared to be nuisances and may be seized and carried before the court having jurisdiction of such offense, and said court may order such nuisances forfeited to the Division of Marine Resources of the department immediately after trial and conviction of the person or persons in whose possession they were found....

- 7. The VESSEL is declared a nuisance by operation of section 370.061, Fla. Stat. (1997), in that the VESSEL was used in connection with the illegal taking and transportation of 79 undersized crawfish tails and 137 out of season stone crabs.
- 8 The nuisance is subject to forfeiture pursuant to section 370.061 because it was used in connection with the illegal taking and transportation of 79 undersized crawfish tails and 137 out of season stone crabs.

(R. 11-13).

On October 14, 1998, Sergio Valdes, through counsel, Howard Brodsky, Esquire, filed a Motion to Dismiss With Prejudice DEP's motion. (R. 24-32). In support of his motion, Sergio argued that section 370.061, Fla. Stat. is facially unconstitutional as it violates the due process clause of both the State and Federal constitutions. (R. 25-26). Sergio argued that the statute does no provide a claimant or any third party with any notice or a hearing before the forfeiture. (R. 26-27). Sergio argued in the alterna-

tive, that even if the statute provides for notice and a hearing, none was provided in this case. (R. 27). On December 13, 1999, the trial court entered an order denying Sergio's motion for lack of standing. (R. 38-39).

On January 18, 2000, Howard Brodsky filed a Motion to Intervene on behalf of Respondent, Carlos Valdes. (R. 40-42). In support of his motion, Respondent claimed to be the owner of the vessel at issue. (R. 41). The trial court granted Respondent's motion. (R. 43).

On March 2, 2000, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice the State's Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of Nuisance. (R. 44-62). In support of his motion, Respondent argued that section 370.061 is facially unconstitutional as it violates the due process clause of both the State and Federal constitutions. Respondent argued that the statute makes no provision for notice and a hearing before the forfeiture. (R. 48-49). Respondent argued in the alternative that in his case, he received no notice or a hearing. (R. 50).

Respondent argued that the statute is also facially unconstitutional as violative of the equal protection clause of both the State and Federal constitutions. Respondent claimed that the statute provides protection for holders of recorded liens against motor vehicles but provides no such protection for holders of recorded liens against motor boats. (R. 49-50).

On March 16, 2000, DEP filed a Response to the motion to dismiss. (R. 63-72). DEP argued that Respondent lacked standing to raise the constitutional challenges that he has raised. DEP argued that Respondent had no standing to raise the due process challenge because he was provided with actual notice of the pending forfeiture and that since he is in fact before the court, he is being afforded a hearing. (R. 68-69). DEP pointed to the fact that the Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of Nuisance was served on counsel for Respondent, that the court granted Carlos's motion to Intervene, and that since the motion is still pending, he is being afforded an opportunity to be heard. (R. 69).

Regarding Respondent's claim that the statute violates the equal protection clause, DEP argued that Respondent is not a member of the class for which he claimed the statute provides no protection. Specifically, that Respondent is not the holder of a recorded lien against a motor boat. (R. 69-70). Consequently, DEP argued, Respondent has no standing to raise that challenge. (R. 70).

On May 11, 2000, the trial court entered an Order Granting Carlos's Motion to Dismiss. (R. 75). The court ruled that the statute as applied to Respondent is violative of due process and is also violative of the equal protection clause of the U.S. Constitution. (R. 75).

DEP appealed that order to the Third District Court of Appeal.

(R. 76-77).

In that appeal, DEP maintained that Respondent had no standing to raise the due process challenge because he was in fact served with the motion, he was permitted to intervene, he was in fact before the court, and that the court had not yet entertained the motion nor entered the order of forfeiture. As to Respondent's equal protection claim, DEP argued that Respondent had no standing to raise the challenge because Respondent is not a member of the class of persons for which he claimed the statute provides no protection.

On April 11, 2001 the district court issued its opinion affirming the county court's dismissal of the DEP's Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of a Nuisance. State v. Valdes, 788 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). The Court opined that the statute could be construed in such a way as to preserve its constitutionality. The court held that the statute is constitutional only if the procedures outlined by this Court in Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1996), is utilized in implementing the provision of the statute. The Court held that because DEP did not follow the procedure outlined in Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, the trial court was correct in dismissing its motion.

The court denied DEP's motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc. This Court subsequently granted review.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I

WHETHER THE PROCEDURES OUTLINED IN DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT V. REAL PROPERTY, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1991) APPLY TO CONFISCATION OF NUISANCES UNDER SECTION 370.061(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.

ΙI

WHETHER SECTION 370.061(1) FLORIDA STATUTES IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS DEP'S MOTION FOR FINAL ORDER OF FORFEITURE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The procedures outlined in *Real Property* do not apply to section 370.061(1) forfeiture proceedings. First, section 370.061 provides it own procedure for confiscation of nuisances. Second, section 370.061 confers jurisdiction over such forfeitures in the county court. Third, section 370.061 does not require the filing of a separate civil action. Section 370.061 does not require trial by jury of the ultimate issue of forfeiture, nor does it require proof by clear and convincing evidence. The statute vests discretion in the county court as to whether to order the forfeiture. The procedures outlined in *Real Property* is therefore clearly inconsistent with the plain language and legislative intent of section 370.061. Hence, the district court below erred in holding that the procedures outlined in *Real Property* must be followed in seeking forfeiture of nuisances under section 370.061.

Section 370.061 is constitutional. It is a valid exercise of the police powers of the State for the protection of the fishing industry. It provides sufficient procedural due process where it requires a conviction before the forfeiture is sought and where it vests the court with the discretion as to whether to order the forfeiture.

Respondent has no standing to raise the constitution challenges. Respondent, through his attorney, was served with the motion for final order of forfeiture. The court granted Respon-

dent's motion to intervene. Respondent is in fact before the court. The court has not heard DEP's motion and no order of forfeiture has been entered.

Respondent is not a member of the class of persons for which he claims the statute offers no protection. Respondent is not the holder of a recorded lien against a vessel. Respondent therefore has no standing to raise the equal protection challenge.

Thus, the procedures outlined in *Real Property* do not apply to section 370.061 confiscations. Section 370.061 is constitutional. Respondent has no standing to raise the constitutional challenges. Hence, the trial court erred in granting Respondent's Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of Nuisance. This Court should therefore quash the district court's decision and remand the cause to that court with directions to reverse the county court's order.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE PROCEDURES OUTLINED IN DEPARTMENT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT V. REAL PROPERTY, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1991) DO NOT APPLY TO CONFISCATION OF NUISANCES UNDER SECTION 370.061(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.

The county court judge granted Respondent's motion to dismiss DEP's Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of a Nuisance on the finding that section 370.061(1), Florida Statutes (1997), is unconstitutional as applied to Respondent. The court found that even though Respondent is the owner of the seized boat, he was given no notice or the opportunity to be heard. The court also ruled the statute facially unconstitutional as violative of equal protection of the laws. The district court below, however, held that the statute can be construed in such a way as to preserve its The court held that the constitutionality. statute constitutional only if the procedures outlined by this Court in Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, 588 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1991), (hereinafter "Real Property"), is followed in seeking the forfeiture. It is DEP's contention that the procedures outlined in Real Property do not apply to section 370.061(1), that section 370.061(1) is constitutional, and that Respondent had no standing to challenge the constitutionality of section 370.061(1).

Contraband Forfeiture Act

Section 932.071-932.704, Florida Statutes, (1989), the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act, (hereinafter "The Act"), declared as contraband property used or obtained in connection with criminal activities. That act provides, in part:

932.704. Forfeiture proceedings--

attorney within The state jurisdiction the contraband article, vessel, motor vehicle, aircraft, other personal property, ... has been seized because of its use or attempted use in violation of any provisions of law dealing with contraband, ..., shall promptly proceed against the contraband article, ... by rule to show cause in the circuit court within the jurisdiction in which the seizure or the offense occurred and may have such contraband article, ... forfeited to the use of, or to be sold by, the law enforcement agency making the seizure, upon producing due proof that the contraband article, ... was being used in violation of the provisions of this act. The final order of forfeiture by the court shall perfect in the law enforcement agency right, title, and interest in and to such property and shall relate back to the date of seizure.

In Real Property, this Court addressed the facial constitutionality of the Act against a due process challenge. This Court held that the Act is constitutional provided that the procedures it outlined in that case were followed in seeking the forfeiture. Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, 588 So. 2d at 959. The procedures included, inter alia, 1) ex-parte seizure of personal property; 2) immediate notification to all interested parties of their right to request a post-seizure

adversarial preliminary hearing after the ex parte seizure of personal property,; 3) a preliminary hearing held as soon as is reasonably possible after the request; 4) a de novo determination as to whether probable cause exists to maintain the forfeiture action; 5) the filing of a civil complaint in circuit court against the property; 6) application of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedures in the control of service of process, discovery, and the forfeiture proceeding; 7) trial by jury of the ultimate issue of forfeiture and; 8) proof by clear and convincing evidence. Id at 967. This Court concluded that these procedures are required to satisfy due process in the implementation of the Act and are not inconsistent with the language and intent of the Act. Id. at 968.

Section 370.061(1)

Section 370.061(1), Florida Statutes (1997), provides:

370.061. Confiscation of property and products (1) CONFISCATION; **PROCEDURE.**——In all cases of arrest and conviction for the illegal taking, or attempted taking, sale, possession, or transportation of saltwater fish or other saltwater products, such saltwater products and seines, nets, boats, motors, other fishing devices or equipment, and vehicles or other means of transportation used in connection with such illegal taking or attempted taking are hereby declared to be nuisances and may be seized and carried before the court having jurisdiction of such offense, and said court may order such nuisances forfeited to the Fish Wildlife Conservation Commission immediately after trial and conviction of the person or persons in whose possession they were found, except that, if a motor vehicle is

seized under the provisions of this act and is subject to any existing liens recorded under the provisions of s. 319.27, all further proceedings shall be governed by the expressed intent of the Legislature not to divest any innocent person, firm, or corporation holding a recorded lien of any of reversionary rights in such motor vehicle or of any of its rights as prescribed in s. 319.27, and that, upon any default by the violator purchaser, the said lienholder may foreclose its lien and take possession of the motor vehicle involved. When any illegal or illegally used seine, net, trap, or other fishing device or equipment or illegally taken, possessed, or transported saltwater products are found and taken into custody, and the owner thereof shall not be known to the officer finding the same, such officer shall immediately procure from the county court judge of the county wherein they were found an order forfeiting said saltwater products, seines, nets, traps, boats, motors, or other fishing devices to the commission. All things forfeited under the provisions of this law may be destroyed, used by the commission, disposed qift to charitable or institutions, or sold and the proceeds derived from said sale deposited in the Marine Resources Conservation Trust Fund to be used for law enforcement purposes or into the commission's Federal Law Enforcement Trust Fund as provided in s. 372.107, as applicable. However, forfeited boats, motors, and legal fishing devices only, may be purchased from the commission for \$1 by the person or persons holding title thereto at the time of the illegal act causing the forfeiture, if such person shall prove that he or she in no way participated in, gave consent to, or had knowledge of such act.

§ 370.061(1), Fla. Stat. The district court below held that the procedures for forfeiture outlined in *Real Property* applies to section 370.061(1) forfeitures. However, it is evident from the

plain language of section 370.061(1) that the procedures outlined in *Real Property* cannot, consistent with the plain language of section 370.061(1) be applied to such forfeitures.

First, section 370.061(1) provides its own procedure for the for the confiscation of nuisances. It provides:

In all cases of arrest and conviction for the illegal taking, ... of saltwater fish or other saltwater products, such..., boats,... used in connection with such illegal taking ... are hereby declared to be nuisances and may be seized and carried before the court having jurisdiction of such offense, and said court may order such nuisances forfeited.

Thus, a forfeiture proceeding under section 370.061(1) cannot be initiated nor the forfeiture obtained until there has been a conviction involving the property. Under the Contraband Forfeiture Act, however, property may be seized and forfeited independent of any criminal proceeding or conviction.

Second, section 370.061(1) confers jurisdiction over such forfeitures in the county court. The statute declares as nuisances personal property used in connection with the illegal taking of saltwater fish, misdemeanor offenses. The statute provides that upon the arrest and conviction for such illegal takings, such nuisances may be brought before the court having jurisdiction over the offense, and the court may order such property forfeited. Since the court having jurisdiction over such offenses is the county court, the statute requires the forfeiture proceeding to be in the county court. The Contraband Forfeiture Act, however,

confers jurisdiction over such forfeitures in the circuit courts. It requires the filing of a civil complaint for forfeiture in the circuit court.

Further, the jurisdictional limit of the county court is \$15,000.00. See Chapter 34.01, Fla. Stat. The properties at issue in section 370.061 proceedings will invariably exceed the jurisdictional limit of the county courts. In fact, section 370.061 makes no mention of the value of the property. Hence, the value of the property is not relevant in section 370.061 forfeitures. The Legislature could not have intended for section 370.061 to alter the jurisdictional limit of the county court in civil cases. The district court cannot confer jurisdiction on the county court by requiring the State to initiate a civil action in the county court where the jurisdictional limit of the court is exceeded.

Third, the Contraband Forfeiture Act requires the filing of a separate civil action against the property. Section 370.061, however, does not require the initiation of a separate action. It provides that upon the arrest and conviction, the nuisance may be brought before the court having jurisdiction over the offense. It therefore does not require a separate action in a different court.

Fourth, the Contraband Forfeiture Act requires trial by jury of the ultimate issue of forfeiture. *Real Property* requires proof by clear and convincing evidence. Buy contrast, section 370.061

vests the county court with discretion as to whether to order the forfeiture. The statute provides that the court "may order such nuisances forfeited..." The statute clearly does not require trial by jury as is required in *Real Property*.

In Real Property, this Court observed that the procedure it outlined was not inconsistent with the language and intent of the Contraband Forfeiture Act. As is evident form the discussion above, the procedures outlined in Real Property cannot, consistent with the plain language of section 370.061(1) be utilized for forfeiture proceedings under that statute.

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