IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC01-1735

LOWER CASE NO. 3D00-1469

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

SERGIO VALDES, ET. AL.

Respondent(s).

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

Howard Brodsky, Esquire
Florida Bar No. 817252
2701 South Bayshore Drive
Suite 602
Miami, Florida 33133
Telephone: (305) 858-9020
Facsimile: (305) 858-6097

Counsel for Carlos Valdes, Et. Al.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida Statute 370.061 is unconstitutional on its face in that it does not provide for fundamental due process. Even if the Statute can be construed as being constitutional the State applied the Statute in an unconstitutional manner as it relates to CARLOS in that the State did not afford CARLOS due process of law and did not follow the dictates of Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property, 588 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1991).

Florida Statute 370.061 is a criminal forfeiture statute because it is based upon a conviction. Therefore, the State had an obligation to seek a forfeiture in the underlying criminal case by way of including a forfeiture count in the information in that criminal case. The State failed to follow the law and did not seek a forfeiture in the criminal action and therefore they are barred from seeking a forfeiture after the fact. Had the State included a forfeiture count in the underlying criminal case we would not be here arguing these issues because the State would have then complied with due process. However, the State chose not to afford due process.

CARLOS has standing as the owner of the subject fishing vessel to raise a due process claim. Additionally, Florida Statute 370.061 violates the equal protection clause of the Florida and United States Constitutions because it treats boat owners and owners of vehicles differently.

The trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal were both correct in entering orders granting and upholding CARLOS' Motion to Dismiss the State's Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture of Nuisance with Prejudice.

FLORIDA STATUTE 370.061 IS VIOLATIVE OF DUE PROCESS ON ITS FACE AND/OR FLORIDA STATUTE 370.061 AS APPLIED TO CARLOS VALDES BY THE STATE OF FLORIDA IS VIOLATIVE OF DUE PROCESS.

The State sought to forfeit the subject fishing vessel which forms the basis of this Appeal pursuant to §370.061 Florida Statutes (1997).

Paragraph 1 of that Statute is styled Confiscation;
Procedure and states:

In all cases of arrest and conviction through the illegal taking, or attempted taking, sale, possession, or transportation of salt water fish or other salt water products, such salt water products and seines, nets, boats, motors, other fishing devices or equipment, and vehicles or other means of transportation used in connection with such illegal taking or attempted taking are hereby declared to be nuisances and may be seized and carried before the court having jurisdiction of such offense and said court may order such nuisances forfeited to the Division of Marine Resources of the Department immediately after trial and conviction of the person or persons in whose possession they were found, except that if a motor vehicle is seized under the provisions of this act and is subject to any existing liens recorded under the provision of §319.27 all further proceedings shall be governed by the expressed intent of the legislature not to divest any innocent person, firm or corporation, holding such a recorded lien of any of its reversionary rights in such motor vehicle or of any of its rights as prescribed in §319.27 and that, upon any default by the violator, purchaser, that said lien holder may foreclose its lien and take possession of the motor vehicle involved. When any illegal or illegally used, seine, net, trap or other fishing devise or equipment or illegally taken, possessed or transported salt water products are found and taken into custody, and the owner thereof shall not be known to the officer finding the same, such officer shall immediately procure from the county court judge of the county wherein they were found an order forfeiting said salt water

products, seines, net, traps, boats, motors or other fishing devices to the Division. All things forfeited under the provisions of this law may be destroyed, used by the Division, disposed of by gift to charitable or State institutions, or sold and the proceeds derived from such sale deposited in the Marine Resources Conservation Trust Fund to be used for law enforcement purposes. However, forfeited boats, motors and legal fishing devices only may be purchased from the Division for \$1.00 by the person or persons holding title thereto at the time of the illegal act causing the forfeiture, if such person shall prove that he or she in no way participated in, gave consent to, or had knowledge of such act.

This Statute is unconstitutional on its face because it violates the due process clauses of both the Unites States and Florida Constitutions. Article I, Section IX of the Florida Constitution provides "No person shall be deprived of Life, Liberty or Property without due process of law.... The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that depravation of life, liberty or property be preceded by notice and an opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case, County of Pasco v. Riehl, 635 So2d. 17, 18, 19 (Fla. 1994). Florida Statute 370.061 does not provide for or require notice and hearing. It simply provides that upon arrest and conviction the court may order a forfeiture. It does not give the claimant or any third party a right to notice or an opportunity to be heard before a forfeiture is ordered when dealing with a fishing vessel.

In a light most favorable to the statute, if it can be inferred that the statute does require notice and an opportunity to be heard, in this case there was no notice nor an opportunity to be heard. Either way the statute

itself and/or the application of the statute by the State violates the due process clause of both the United States and Florida constitutions and therefore the statute must be declared unconstitutional and/or the State's Motion for Forfeiture must be dismissed with prejudice inasmuch as the State applied the statute as it relates to CARLOS in an unconstitutional manner.

In the case of <u>Department of Law Enforcement v. Real</u>

<u>Property</u>, 588 So2d. 957 (Fla. 1991) this Court set forth the requirements of a forfeiture statute and/or the application of same such that due process is afforded. The analysis of the Court is as follows:

It is clear that real and personal property are substantially different both in the interests of the parties involved and in the ability of the owners or lien holders to dispose of their interests. Therefore, the manner in which due process applies to the preliminary restraint notice and hearing requirements varies when distinguishing between the forfeiture of interests in real and personal property. Regarding matters of personal property, due process permits the State to seize personal property prior to notice or an opportunity for a hearing, provided that notice is sent and the opportunity for an adversarial preliminary hearing is made available as soon as possible after seizure. We envision that the situation will arise in two types of circumstances: when the State has not yet taken possession of the property; and when the State has already lawfully taken possession of the property, such as while making an arrest.

In those situations where the State has not yet taken possession of the personal property that it wishes to be forfeited, the State may seek an ex-parte preliminary hearing. At the hearing, the State shall authorize the seizure of the personal property if it finds probable cause to maintain the forfeiture action. In those situations where a law enforcement agency

already has lawfully taken possession of personal property during the course of routine police actions, the State has effectively made an ex-parte seizure for the purposes of initiating a forfeiture action.

After the ex-parte seizure of personal property, the State must immediately notify all interested parties that the State has taken their property in a forfeiture action; and that they have the right to request a post-seizure adversarial preliminary hearing. If requested, the preliminary hearing shall be held as soon as it is reasonably possible to make a de novo determination as to whether probable cause exists to maintain the forfeiture action; and to determine whether continued seizure of the property is the least restrictive means warranted by the circumstances to protect against disposal of the property pending final disposition. Again, as with real property forfeitures, this initial stage should be expeditiously completed, and we anticipate that the adversarial preliminary hearing, if requested, will take place within 10 days of the request.

In all forfeiture cases, due process under Article I, Section IX, of the Florida Constitution, requires that notice shall be served on all persons whom the agency knows, or with reasonable investigation should know, have a legal interest in the subject property. Notice shall advise these persons that a forfeiture action is pending against the particular property of properties. In real property forfeiture actions, notice must advise interested parties of the time and place for which the preliminary adversarial hearing has been scheduled. In personal property forfeiture actions notice must advise interested parties that they have a right to an adversarial preliminary hearing upon request.

In this preliminary stage of real and personal property forfeitures, due process requires the State to establish probable cause to believe that the property was used in the commission of a crime pursuant to the terms of the act. Article I, Section IX, Florida Constitution. If the State establishes probable cause, the court shall order the property restrained throughout the pendency of the forfeiture action by the

least restrictive means necessary under the circumstances. Under no circumstances may the State continue its restraint on the property pending final disposition unless notice and an opportunity to be heard in an adversarial preliminary hearing are provided to all potential claimants. Article I, Section IX, Florida Constitution. (The act the court was dealing with was the Florida contraband forfeiture act), provides that after the property is first seized, the State must file a Petition for a Rule to Show Cause in the circuit court, and upon producing due proof that the property was used in violation of the act, the court shall issue a Final Order of Forfeiture vesting legal title in the appropriate agency under the Act. However, that is the sum total of direction given by the Act. The Act does not set out any procedures for filing the petition or issuing the rule to show cause, except that a rule shall issue upon the showing of due proof. The Act does not address any requirements for filing the petition; which procedural rule should apply to control the litigation; what standard or burden of proof is due for issuance of the rule; whether a trial, with or without a jury is required to decide the merits of the action once the rule has been issued; what standard and burden of proof apply in deciding the ultimate issue, including defenses; and whether and how property is to be divided or petitioned to insure that only the guilty property is forfeited. As the Fourth District Court appropriately characterized the Act, forfeiture proceedings are "procedural quagmires on account of the failure of the Statute to provide measures to be followed other than to say . . . by Rule to Show Cause in the Circuit Court." Id. at 965, 966.

Like the former Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act as analyzed in <u>Department of Law Enforcement</u> supra, Florida Statute 370.061 does not provide for due process of law and/or the State did not comply with due process of law in the pursuit of the subject vessel pursuant to Florida Statute 370.061 because Florida Statute 370.061 and/or the State's application of Florida Statute 370.061 does not:

- a) provide that notice be sent and an opportunity for an adversarial preliminary hearing is made available as soon as possible after seizure.
- b) provide that after an ex-parte seizure of personal property the State must immediately notify all interested parties that the State has taken their property in a forfeiture action and that they have a right to request a post-seizure adversarial preliminary hearing.
- c) that if requested, the preliminary hearing shall be held as soon as it is reasonably possible to make a de novo determination as to whether probable cause exists to maintain a forfeiture action and to determine whether continued seizure of the property is the least restrictive means warranted by the circumstances to protect against disposal of the property pending final disposition.
- d) Provide that notice shall be served on all persons whom the Agency knows or with reasonable investigation should know, have a legal interest in the subject property and the notice shall advise those persons that a forfeiture action is pending against the particular property or properties.
- e) Provide that notice must advise interested parties that they have a right to an adversarial preliminary hearing upon request; require the State to establish probable cause to believe that the property was used in the commission of a crime pursuant to the terms of the Statute; provide for notice and an opportunity to be heard and an adversarial proceeding to all claimants before the State can continue its restraint on the personal property pending final disposition.
- f) Set any procedures by which the State can seek forfeiture except that the State may seize and carry before the court having jurisdiction over the offense that which exists to be forfeited.
- g) Address any requirements for filing whatever pleading it is that the State should file.
- h) Address which procedural rule should apply or control the litigation.
- i) Determine which standard and what burden of proof is due.
- j) Determine whether a trial with or without a jury is required to decide the merits of the action.
- k) Determine what standard and burden of proof apply in deciding the ultimate issue, including

defenses.

1) Determine whether and how property is to be divided or petitioned to insure that only the guilty property is forfeited.

To date, CARLOS has never been sent notice by the State of Florida that the State has taken his property in a forfeiture action and that he has a right to request a postseizure adversarial preliminary hearing. It was not until February 8, 2000, that CARLOS became a party to this action, and the only reason that CARLOS has become a party to this action is because he was forced to intervene. This is so, even though the State has known since July of 1998 that CARLOS is the owner of the subject fishing vessel. Notwithstanding this knowledge which the State has had now for over two years, it has not taken the first step toward affording CARLOS basic fundamental due process. Because the State did not comply with due process the lower courts were correct in dismissing the State's Motion for Final Order of Forfeiture in this case in reliance on Department of Law Enforcement Real Property wherein this Court affirmed the Circuit Court's decision to dismiss the forfeiture action on the basis that the State did not comply with due process.

The State attempts to distinguish the case of

Department of Law Enforcement v. Real Property from the

case at Bar because in that case this Court was dealing

with the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act. It is however

abundantly clear, that the Department of Law Enforcement v.

Real Property is not distinguishable and is right on point

with this case because although dealing with the Florida

Contraband Forfeiture Act, the principals of law which where analyzed and enforced are principals of law that deal specifically with forfeiture actions in general. All of the principles of law which where discussed and enforced in Real Property are directly relevant and control the instant action.

The State then relies on the case of Lawton v. Steel, 152 U.S. 133, 1894 as the case that controls this case. As it will be shown below, the case of Lawton v. Steel is clearly distinguishable, not relevant and does nothing more than support CARLOS' position. In <u>Steel</u> the court was dealing with fifteen (15) hoop and fyke nets. The nets were taken and summarily destroyed. That court was dealing with an Act which provided in pertinent part " Any net, pound or other means or devise for taking or capturing fish or whereby they may be taken or captured, set, put, floated, had, found or maintained in or upon any of the waters of this State... in violation of any existing or hereinafter enacted statutes or laws for the protection of fish, is hereby declared to be and is a public nuisance and may be abated and summarily destroyed by any person and it shall be the duty of each and every protector aforesaid of every game constable to seize and remove and forthwith destroy the same."

In <u>Steel</u> the court stated " It is not easy to draw the line between cases where property illegally used may be destroyed summarily and where judicial proceedings are

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